#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

# INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT, BOB MARTINEZ, GOVERNOR OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

PETER M. DUNBAR General Counsel Office of the Governor The Capitol - Suite 209 Tallahassee, Florida 32399 904/488-3494

and

ALAN C. SUNDBERG
CYNTHIA S. TUNNICLIFF
Carlton, Fields, Ward, Emmanuel,
Smith and Cutler, P.A.
Post Office Drawer 190
Tallahassee, Florida 32302
904/224-1585

##

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Appellant will be referred to as the Appellant or the Governor and the Appellees will be referred to as Appellees or the Legislature; each as the context may require. The Record will be referred to as (R: ), followed by the appropriate page number.

#### INTRODUCTION

It is apparent that the trial court did not fully appreciate the significance of this Court's order transferring the case. As a result, the Governor was frustrated in developing a full record to assist this Court in resolving this important dispute between the legislative and executive branches of government concerning their proper roles in the appropriation and expenditure of state revenues.

The Legislature seized upon this lack of understanding to present an hermetically sealed and sterilized issue and successfully prevailed upon the trial court to decide that issue in a procedural straightjacket. Hence, what the Legislature

 $<sup>^{1}</sup>$ At the hearing on the Motion for Summary Judgment, the Court opined: "It is still beyond me why the Supreme Court didn't keep this case." (R: 1736).

described as "constitutionally important issues" were relegated to a narrow examination of only the language of the appropriations bill without any serious inquiry into the significance of the intent documents which is at the bottom of these "constitutionally important issues."

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Legislature originally filed a Petition for Writ of Mandamus in this Court seeking to expunge from the state's official records selected gubernatorial line item vetoes of specific appropriations (R: 3). The Governor moved to dismiss that Petition on several grounds, one of which was the necessity to explicate the entire appropriations process in a fact finding forum (R: 119). In response to that Motion to Dismiss this Court dismissed the Petition and transferred the case to the Leon County Circuit Court (R: 1).

The Legislature filed an Amended Complaint for

Declaratory Judgment in the Leon County Circuit Court seeking a

declaration that the specifically enumerated gubernatorial

vetoes were invalid (R: 235). The Governor filed an Answer,

Affirmative Defenses, Counterclaim and Cross-claim (R: 324).

The Governor attempted to raise the material issues involved in

the appropriations process, which are essential to resolution of

the "important constitutional issues" described in the Legislature's Petition before this Court (R: 4). The Governor did this in compliance with his understanding of the Supreme Court Order dismissing the Petition for Writ of Mandamus.

Appellant raised one of these issues as his first affirmative defense to the Amended Complaint, alleging:

The portions of the appropriations bill vetoed by the Governor are specific appropriations within the meaning of Article III, Section 8, of the Florida constitution. As described more particularly in the Governor's counterclaim below, these specific appropriations appear in the legislative intent documents and constitute identifiable, integrated funds which the legislature has allocated for a specific purpose. The D-3A's are a part of the legislative intent document and furthermore were expressly incorporated into the appropriations bill by reference in the letter, dated June 22, 1988, transmitting the intent documents as required by Section 216.181, Florida Statutes, from the Chairmen of the legislative appropriations committees to the Governor, Comptroller, and Auditor General. (Copies of the letter of transmittal, the summary statement of intent, and appropriations bill are attached hereto as Exhibit 1. A copy of the D-3A's are being filed under separate cover with the Court and will be available for inspection by all parties). As specific appropriations in a general appropriations bill, the expenditures are subject to the Governor's veto power.

(R: 327). Appellant also raised affirmative defenses alleging that the Complaint failed to state a cause of action and that the Florida Legislature and the Plaintiffs in their official capacity did not have standing to bring this action (R: 327).

Appellant counterclaimed and cross-claimed (Count III) for a declaratory judgment asking the trial court to determine the legal significance of the intent documents (R: 328; 331). Appellant alleged in the counterclaim that he believes that the detailed allocations in the intent documents are specific appropriations in the General Appropriations Act, but as a result of the Legislature's actions and allegations in the Amended Complaint a bona fide dispute exists between the Governor and the Legislature as to the legal significance of the intent documents. The intent documents include the Summary Statement of Intent (R: 743) and the more detailed statement of intent known as the D-3A's (R: 743; and 4 boxes filed with Court under separate cover and separately paginated). Statement of Intent is required to be prepared by the chairmen of the legislative appropriations committees after the enactment of the appropriations bill and, together with the General Appropriations Act and other acts containing appropriations "shall be considered the original approved operating budget", Section 216.181(1) and (3) and Section 216.011(1)(w), Florida Statutes. This Statement of Intent is transmitted to the

Executive Office of the Governor, the Comptroller, the Auditor General, and each agency and is to be used to determine compliance with the General Appropriations Act. Section 216.181(2), Florida Statutes.

The broad general categories of appropriations contained within the General Appropriations Act are broken down into the specific appropriations items in the intent documents (R: 743). Indeed, the administrative agency to which the appropriation is made must, in many instances, look to the intent documents to determine the specific appropriation (R: 673, et seq.). The vetoes of which Appellees here complain are vetoes of specific appropriations contained within these intent documents.

The Governor also cross-claimed against the Secretary of State and Comptroller seeking a declaration as to the constitutionality of Chapter 88-556 ("the implementing bill") and Chapter 88-557 ("the conforming bill") (R: 331, et seq.). A review of these statutory enactments completes the picture of the appropriations process for the fiscal year 1988-1989. Both Chapters 88-556 and 88-557 are a "hodgepodge" of statutory amendments and enactments intended to implement the appropriations bill and conform the substantive law to the various appropriations. In moving to dismiss the Petition for Writ of

Mandamus before this Court, Appellant stated that the implementing and conforming bills raised related considerations which should be addressed in a circuit court proceeding in connection with the issues involving the vetoes and intent documents (R: 25).

After Appellant filed his Answer, Affirmative Defenses, Counterclaim and Cross-claim, Appellees filed several motions. First, Appellees moved to bifurcate consideration of the Amended Complaint from consideration of the Cross-claim (R: the day of the hearing on this Motion to Bifurcate, Appellant filed an amendment to the Motion seeking to expand its earlier request so as to also bifurcate consideration of the Counterclaim from consideration of the Legislature's sole issue of the validity of the enumerated vetoes raised by the Legislature's Amended Complaint (R: 351). Appellees also moved to strike Appellant's second affirmative defense which alleged that the Amended Complaint should be dismissed for failure to state that the appropriations which were vetoed by the Governor constitute binding restrictions on the spending practices of the 351). The Legislature did not move to strike the executive (R: first or third affirmative defense.

The trial court granted the original Motion to

Bifurcate consideration of the Cross-claim but denied the

Amended Motion to Bifurcate which contained the Motion to Strike the Second Affirmative Defense (R: 726). The bifurcation order covered the trial only and not discovery (R: 726).

Secondly, Appellees moved to dismiss the counterclaim, inter alia, for failure to state a cause of action in that there is no actual controversy over future rights which require adjudication independent of that alleged in the Amended Complaint (R: 368).

Lastly, Appellees moved for the entry of final summary judgment in its favor on its Amended Complaint, alleging that the only two facts necessary for a determination were not in dispute, i.e. the enactment of the General Appropriations Act and the filing of the veto message. Consequently, the Legislature contended that it was entitled to judgment because the vetoes were of amounts not contained in the General Appropriations Act. In response to the Motion for Summary Judgment, Appellant filed the depositions of Sam McCall and Robert Sym, the Deputy Auditors General, and Jim Carpenter, the Assistant Auditor General, together with affidavits of budget directors for various state agencies. In each of the affidavits, the budget director describes the appropriations documents and agency budgets as consisting of the general categories contained within the General Appropriations Act and

the specific direction as to how appropriated funds are to be spent, which is contained within the Summary Statement of Intent and detailed D-3A's (R: 673, et seq.). The budget directors also testified by way of affidavit that they had been advised by legislative appropriations committee staff that the agency was required to expend the money in accordance with the intent documents and that the Comptroller's office has on occasion requested identification of a specific appropriation in the intent documents to support a particular disbursement request (R: 673, 3t seq.). The auditors general testified that in auditing an agency, a comment would be written in the audit report of that agency for failure to comply with the intent documents. Mr. Carpenter also testified that the designation of "Major Issues" in the Summary Statement of Intent was "an expression of what they [the Legislature] had provided money for" (R: 616).

The Governor filed a Motion for Summary Judgment directed at Counts I and II of the cross-claim maintaining that as to those counts there were no disputed issues of fact and that Chapter 88-556 and Chapter 88-557, Laws of Florida, were unconstitutional vel non (R: 1; 623). Argument on this Motion

<sup>2&</sup>quot;Major Issues" are the specific breakdowns of larger appropriations categories and are displayed in the Summary Statement of Intent.

was never heard, since by Order dated December 29, 1988, the trial judge ruled that the cross-claim "falls" (R: 1705). By this same Order, the trial judge, The Honorable William L. Gary, determined that the Florida Lgislature and the individual Plaintiffs in their official capacity had standing to bring this action; entered Final Summary Judgment in favor of the Legislature; and dismissed the Counterclaim, which requested a declaration of the legal significance of the intent documents - the issue which is at the vortex of the constitutional controversy between the Legislature and the Governor (R: 1705).

In granting the summary judgment, the trial judge determined that there were no disputed issues of fact and that the Legislature was entitled to judgment as a matter of law because the Constitution confers no power on the Governor to veto "portions" of an appropriation and the amounts vetoed do not constitute "specific appropriations" in a general appropriations bill within the meaning of Article III, Section 8 of the Florida Constitution (R: 1705). This was the total explication of the trial court's reasoning. The trial judge enunciated no reason at all for granting the Motion to Dismiss the Counterclaim or the Cross-claim.

From this Order entering final summary judgment, dismissing the Counterclaim, and ruling with respect to the

Cross-claim, the Governor filed a timely appeal to the District Court of Appeal, First District (R: 1709). Because of the magnitude of procedural error in this record, Appellant contested the Legislature's suggestion to certify the case to this Court pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(5), Constitution of the State of Florida. While Appellant did not contest the need for immediate resolution, he did express doubts as to whether the procedural error presented by this record constituted issues of great public importance. Moreover, Appellant contended that the exigencies of time would best be served by an immediate resolution of the procedural issues in the District Court. Nonetheless, the case was certified and this Court accepted jurisdiction by Order dated February 1, 1989.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellant contends that the trial court erred in failing to consider the real issue in this case which is the legal significance of the intent documents from which the Governor vetoed specific appropriations. This error is manifest in the trial court's numerous procedural errors. The trial court erroneously entered summary judgment in light of a legally sufficient uncontroverted affirmative defense alleging that the

intent documents were a part of the General Appropriations Act. Moreover, the evidence by way of affidavits from state budget directors and the depositions of the deputy and assistant auditors general proved that the intent documents were considered as appropriations binding on the spending practices of the agencies; facts which a court is impelled to consider in determining the validity of a statutory or constitutional scheme.

The trial court also erred in dismissing with prejudice the Counterclaim by which the Governor sought a declaratory judgment as to the legal significance of the intent documents. The Counterclaim stated a cause of action against the proper parties. The trial court further erred in determining that the Legislature and the Appellees in their official capacity had standaing to maintain this cause of action for declaratory judgment on the validity of the Governor's vetoes. Lastly, the trial court erred in disposing of the Cross-Claim which raised the constitutionality of the implementing and conforming bills.

More importantly, however, the summary judgment was erroneous on the merits in that from the evidence of record in this case, together with the decision in <u>United Faculty v. Board of Regents</u>, 365 So.2d 1073 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979), the intent documents are "an element" of the General Appropriations Act

subject to line-item veto. If the intent documents are not an element of the approrpiations bill subject to veto, then they are a nullity and the practice of requiring adherence to their spending direction is an unconstitutional infringement of the fundamental doctrine of separation of powers.

Appellant lastly argues that Chapters 88-556 and 88-557, Laws of Florida, are unconstitutional in that they contain a multiple of subjects including appropriations in violation of Article III, Sections 6 and 12, Constitution of the State of Florida, and they do not set out the laws which are being amended in violation of Article 6, Constitution of the State of Florida.

#### POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT'S ERROR IN FAILING TO CONSIDER THE SIGNIFICANCE OF THE INTENT DOCUMENTS IS MANIFEST IN THE NUMEROUS PROCEDURAL ERRORS.

A. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ENTERING SUMMARY JUDGMENT WHEN THE AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES RAISED GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT.

Appellant's first affirmative defense alleges that the items vetoed by the Governor were specific appropriations within a general appropriations bill subject to the Governor's veto

under Article III, Section 8 of the Florida Constitution. The defense also alleges that these specific appropriations are contained within the intent documents prepared in accordance with statutory directive and constitute identifiable integrated funds which the Legislature has allocated for a specific purpose.

The second affirmative defense alleges that the Amended Complaint should be dismissed for failure to allege that the specific appropriations vetoed by the Governor were binding on the spending practices of the agency since there would be no justiciable controversy if the appropriations were not so binding on the agencies.

Appellees moved to strike the second affirmative defense alleging that it "is not a proper defense to plaintiff's amended complaint" (R: 351). This Motion to Strike was denied (R: 726). Notably, Appellees did not move to strike the first affirmative defense. Moreover, Appellees came forward with no evidence to controvert the allegations in the first affirmative defense. It is axiomatic that in order to be entitled to summary judgment a plaintiff must submit evidence to rebut any affirmative defense raised, <a href="Emile v. First National Bank of Miami">Emile v. First National Bank of Miami</a>, 126 So.2d 305 (Fla. 3d DCA 1961); <a href="Johnson and Kirley">Johnson and Kirley</a>, <a href="Inc. v. Citizens National Bank">Inc. v. Citizens National Bank</a>, 338 So.2d 905 (Fla. 3d DCA

1976), stating "where a defendant pleads an affirmative defense and plaintiff does not by affidavit contradict or deny that defense, the plaintiff is not entitled to summary judgment."

Appellant's first affirmative defense alleges that the items vetoed were specific appropriations within a general appropriations bill and as such were subject to the Governor's constitutional veto power. This affirmative defense, if proved, would defeat the allegations of the complaint and is therefore legally sufficient. A-1 Crane Service, Inc. v. RCA Steel and Construction, Inc., 443 So.2d 468 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984). The trial court erred in granting summary judgment in light of an uncontroverted, legally sufficient affirmative defense.

Moreover, Appellant presented uncontroverted evidence that the specific appropriations contained within the intent documents are considered binding on the various governmental agencies by those persons called upon to administer the appropriations acts. In determining whether the items vetoed were specific appropriations, courts should look to the practical operation and effect of the legislative scheme, State ex rel Kurz v. Lee, 163 So. 859, 873 (Fla. 1935):

And in dealing with finance and taxation measures passed by the Legislature, the courts are impelled to look to the substance of a legislative scheme in its practical operation and effect, rather

than to the mere form in which it has been contrived and enacted.

When a court is required to interpret legislative action, it should also look to the interpretation placed on the legislative scheme by the officials of state government charged with the duty of interpreting and observing it. State v. Lee, supra; Sullivan v. City of Tampa, 134 So. 211 (Fla. 1931); State ex rel West v. Butler, 69 So. 771 (Fla. 1915); and City of DeLand v. Florida Public Service Commission, 161 So. 735 (Fla. 1935). The affidavits of the budget directors filed in this case show that those who administer the budget consider the allocations in the intent documents to be specific appropriations and were, in fact, told by staff members of the Legislature's appropriations committees that they were to comply with the spending direction as contained in the intent documents (R: 673, et seq.).

Section 216.181, Florida Statutes, requires the preparation of the intent documents and their transmittal to the Executive Office of the Governor, the Comptroller, the Auditor General, and state agencies. Section 216.181, Florida Statutes, also provides that the intent documents shall be considered part of the state operating budget. The First District Court of Appeal in <u>United Faculty of Florida</u>, etc. v. Board of Regents, supra, held the intent documents binding on the various agencies of government, stating:

The petitioner attempts to avoid that conclusion by asserting that the letter of intent is not binding upon the [the Board of Regents]. That proposition is contradicted by the very terms of F.S. 216.181(1), which mandates its joint preparation by the chairmen of the House and Senate appropriations committees. It is, therefore, by virtue of that statutory provision, an element of the annual appropriations bill.

365 So.2d at 1077 (emphasis supplied).

The judicial recognition that the intent documents are "an element of the annual appropriations bill", together with the affidavits of the various budget directors that the allocation of monies in the intent documents were considered binding on the agencies' spending practices as well as the depositions of the auditors general created a genuine issue of fact so as to preclude the entry of a summary judgment.

## B. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING THE COUNTERCLAIM WITH PREJUDICE.

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