E COURT OF FLORIDA

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

BOB MARTINEZ, Governor of the State of Florida,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 73,601

SUPREME COURT

Deputy Cler

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

controverted by evidence or decided. The entire action could be decided as a matter of law.

Although the governor's first affirmative defense raised no factual issue to controvert, the governor consistently suggests otherwise by arguing evidence that supports only lis dismissed counterclaim. (Initial brief at 14-15). Yet the issues raised in that counterclaim were not before the court when the legislature's motion for summary judgment was heard.

Under Rule 1.510, the only issues for determination at the December 22 hearing were the legislature's request to declare the governor's concededly partial vetoes unconstitutional and the governor's affirmative defense that legislative work papers had been incorporated vis-a-vis the June 22 letter into the General Appropriations Act. (R. 235-43,327-28); See Redding v. Powell, 452 So.2d 132 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984); Faussner v. Wever, 432 So.2d 100 (Fla. 2d DCA 1983). Those issues have nothing to do with the effect of Chapter 216 on executive departments and government agencies, as alleged in the counterclaim and as purportedly supported by the governor's depositions and affidavits. (R. 331).

The governor makes much of the fact that a court may consider the practical operation and effect of a legislative act in interpreting that act. (Initial brief at 14-15). The practical operation and effect of Chapter 216 on individual government agencies was not raised in the legislature's complaint or in the governor's affirmative defenses. (R. 2°5-43, 327-28).

That issue was raised solely in the governor's counterclaim, which was not ripe for determination on the legislature's motion for summary judgment on its claim.

The critical question faced by the trial court with regard to summary judgment was whether the affidavits and depositions filed by the governor in opposition to the motion for summary judgment addressed a fact issue raised in the complaint or in the governor's affirmative defense. The governor was never able to explain to the trial court how they did, and he certainly has not made any connection for this court. The existence of a dispute not material to the disposition of a case will not, of course, preclude summary judgment. Armstrong v. Southern Bell Telephone and Telegraph Co., 366 So.2d 88 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979).

An affidavit of no probative force will not bar summary judgment. Enes v. Baker, 58 So.2d 551 (Fla. 1952); Boyer v. Dye, 51 So.2d 727 (Fla. 1951); Johnson v. Studstill, 71 So.2d 251 (Fla. 1954). The affidavits, depositions and record in this case demonstrate no disputed material fact on any issue raised by the complaint and affirmative defenses.

There was no need for the legislature to come forward with evidence to controvert a non-existent issue of fact.

Howdeshell v. First National Bank of Clearwater, 369 So.2d 432 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979) (to obtain a summary judgment when the defendant has asserted affirmative defenses, plaintiff must either disprove those defenses by evidence or establish that

there is no disputed issue of material fact); Stewart v. Gore, 314 So.2d 10 (Fla. 2d DCA 1975).

In this case, the record reveals that there were no disputed issues of material fact. The court properly pierced the "paper issues" to enter summary judgment on the merits.

Howdeshell, 369 So.2d at 433; Warring, 195 So.2d at 918; Home
Federal Savings & Loan Association of Hollywood v. Emile, 216
So.2d 443 (Fla. 1968); Reflex N. V. v. Umet Trust, 336 So.2d 473 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976).

4. The legislature and the legislators joined in this action had standing to sue and are entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.

Lewis, 416 So.2d 455 (Fla. 1982), and Jones v. Department of Revenue, 523 So.2d 1211 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988), require this court to find that the legislature and its co-plaintiff members lack standing to prosecute this action in their official capacities. Neither case stands for that proposition. In Lewis, the Florida Department of Education and the Commissioner of Education brought suit seeking a declaratory judgment that a particular provision of the 1981 general appropriations bill was unconstitutional. In Jones, the property appraiser for Escambia County filed suit challenging the constitutionality of a statute giving the Department of Revenue's Division of Ad Valorem Tax the power to

The governor concedes that the plaintiffs in their individual capacities as citizers and taxpayers have standing to prosecute this claim. (R. 328).

estimate the ad valorem tax assessment for each county in the state. In both cases, plaintiffs were denied standing to sue in their official capacities because "state officers and agencies are required to presume that legislation affecting their duties is valid " <u>Lewis</u>, 416 So.2d at 458; <u>Jones</u> 523 So.2d at 1214.

The rationale behind the decisions in <u>Jones</u> and <u>Lewis</u> is inapplicable to this case. The plaintiffs in <u>Jones</u> and <u>Lewis</u> were state officers and agencies, not the Florida Legislature or its members. This distinction is critical. There is only one Florida legislature and a limited number of Florida legislators. Comparatively, there are thousands of state officers and employees. If every state officer and employee were permitted to challenge legislation affecting their respective responsibilities, the Florida courts would stand the risk of being inundated with multiple lawsuits. Additionally, if state employees had the right to challenge legislation affecting their duties, the legislature's ability to supervise state officers and employees would be greatly diminished.

These concerns are not applicable in this case. First, the Florida Legislature is not supervised by any state officer, agency, or governmental entity. Thus, the policy of maintaining control and authority over state officers is simply inapplicable to the legislature and its members. Second, the Florida Legislature is a singular entity, and its membership is limited in contrast to the number of state officers and employees. Thus,

the legislature and its members simply do not pose the same logistical threat to the Florida courts that state employees and officers do.

The court below was correct in according official and individual standing to the legislature and its co-plaintiff members. A party possesses standing to sue when that party can demonstrate a direct and articulable stake in the outcome of a controversy. See Brown v. Firestone, 382 So.2d 654 (Fla. 1980); see also Jones v. Department of Revenue, 523 So.2d 1211 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988); Miller v. Publicker Industries, Inc., 457 So.2d 1374 (Fla. 1984). The vetoes challenged in this case inflicted distinct and special injury on the Florida Legislature as an entity, and on each of its members.

The legislature possesses the power to enact appropriations and by so doing authorize the expenditure of state monies. See Brown, 382 So.2d at 663. The vetoes at issue in this case challenge the legislature's regulatory authority over its appropriations, that is, the vetoes at issue purport to act on portions of the 1988 General Appropriations Act, rather than on specific appropriations in the act itself. The vetoes, therefore, directly infringe on the legislature's power to appropriate. This assault gives the legislature and its members an articulable and direct stake in the outcome of this suit.

Even if the legislature and its members did not suffer special injury, they would still have standing to sue. The special injury rule was created to prevent multiplicity of

lawsuits. See Florida Wildlife Federation v. State, 390 So.2d 64 (Fla. 1980); see also Department of Administration v. Horne, 269 So.2d 659 (Fla. 1972). A legislative challenge to gubernatorial vetoes does not present a likelihood of multiple lawsuits. The lagislature, and its co-plaintiff members, seek to vindicate an interest unique to the Florida Legislature: the power to appropriate funds for the State of Florida. Since the legislature's power to appropriate is the legislature's power alone, there is no possibility that a multitude of parties will litigate questions pertaining to the scope and breadth of the legislature's power and the governor's infringement of that power.

Even if the special injury rule were deemed applicable to this case, the legislature and its members would be exempt from its application because they brought this suit to vindicate the public's interest in assuring that the governor exercises his veto authority in accordance with the Florida Constitution. A party need not prove special injury where he challenges a governmental act on the ground that it was unlawful or unconstitutional. See Brown v. Firestone, 382 So.2d 654 (Fla. 1980) (citizen, without special injury, had standing to challenge veto on the ground that they were unconstitutional); see also Department of Administration v. Horne, 269 So.2d 659 (Fla. 1972) (citizen, without special injury, had standing to challenge certain sections of the 1971 General Appropriations Act on constitutional grounds); Renard v. Dade County, 261 So.2d 832

(Fla. 1972) (any affected citizen has standing to challenge a zoning ordinance which is void because not properly enacted). In Horne, the court explained its reluctance to impose the special injury rule in cases involving constitutional challenges:

Despite our reluctance to open the door to possible multiple suits by 'ordinary citizens,' nonetheless, it is the 'ordinary citizen' and taxpayer who is ultimately affected and who is sometimes the only champion of the people in an unpopular cause. We would therefore not deny this right of attack by a responsible taxpayer upon allegedly illegal expenditures (appropriations) of public monies, as transcending possible unwarranted litigation that might in some instances ensue.

Horne, 269 So.2d at 663.

The legislature and its members are acting as champions of the people when they challenge the constitutionality of gubernatorial vetoes. They seek, in their capacities as lawmakers, to do exactly what the citizen plaintiffs did in Brown and in Thompson v. Graham, 481 So.2d 1212 (Fla. 1985). They have presumptive standing to sue. Even more than the average taxpayer who may vigilantly guard against unconstitutional expenditures, the Florida Legislature and its members are better suited to know of and to guard against a gubernatorial abuse of veto power.

5. <u>Dismissal with prejudice was proper because the governor could not amend his counterclaim to state a cause of action against the defendants named.</u>

The governor counterclaimed against Jon L. Mills, Tom Gustafson, Samuel P. Bell, III, John W. Vogt and Robert (Bob) Crawford, in their capacities as citizens and taxpayers of the

State of Florida, for a declaration regarding the legal significance of the D-3A's, which the governor calls "intent documents." (R. 330). Alternatively, and in the event the court determined that those intent documents were not part of the General Appropriations Act, he asked the court to declare that the intent documents are not binding on the executive departments and agencies of the government. (R. 330-31). That counterclaim failed to state a cause of action because it failed to allege either a definite right that would be directly affected by the requested declaration or that there was a present actual controversy.

The declaratory judgment sought by the governor requires, like all declaratory judgments, that the governor have a definite and concrete right which will be directly affected by the requested declaration. Bowden v. Seaboard Air Line R. R.

Co., 47 So.2d 786 (Fla. 1950); Colby v. Colby, 120 So.2d 797 (Fla. 2d DCA 1960). However, the governor has no right or interest to be protected in this case. It is undisputed that the vetoes in question resulted in a diminution of funds to the Department of Education and to the Department of Agriculture. (R. 36, 51, 52). Those two agencies alone have a present, definite interest in the validity of the challenged vetoes.

Specific Appropriation 118 goes to the Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services. Specific Appropriations 528, 529 and 530 go to the Department of Education/Board of Regents. (R. 36, 51, 52).

Neither of those agencies are parties to the counterclaim. ¹⁰ The governor himself has no interest in the effect of his vetoes on those agencies. He has no constitutional or statutory right to act on either of these two agencies' behalf.

The governor's action for ieclaratory judgment is nothing more than a request for an advisory opinion for future reference as to whether he may attempt to exercise the same sort of veto which he has already attempted to exercise. He has no further duties to perform with regard to administering the appropriations which are the subject of his present vetoes. He seeks nothing more than legal advice with regard to a completed transaction. This cannot be accomplished through a declaratory decree. Bryant v. Gray, 70 So. 2d 581 (Fla. 1954); Register v. Pierce, 13 F.L.W. 1958 (Fla. 1st DCA, Aug. 22, 1988); Silvers v. Drake, 188 So.2d 377 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966). Where a complaint fails to properly allege the existence of a present right that will be directly affected by the requested declaration, a motion to dismiss must be granted. Register, supra.

The governor's claim that this case is framed and presented to this court "precisely in the manner directed by the Supreme Court in <u>Brown v. Firestone</u>" is inaccurate. (Initial brief at 18). The issues in <u>Brown</u> were presented on a petition

The head of the Department of Agriculture and Consumer Services is the Commissioner of Agriculture. Sec.20.14, Fla. Stat. (1987). The head of the Department of Education is the State Board of Education comprised of the governor and the cabinet. Art. IV, sec.4, Fla. Const.; sec.20.15, Fla. Stat. (1987).

for writ of mandamus. Although the court stated in passing that the governor's response "in effect" constituted a counterclaim, the procedural posture of that case and this are critically different.

At the governor's insistence, this case arrives at this court not as an original proceeding in mandamus but on direct appeal from a declaratory proceeding in circuit court. Although the legislature initially sought review using the Brown
procedure, the governor demanded a full blown circuit court proceeding. Under the circumstances, the rules of civil procedure governed the proceeding below as opposed to the off hand generalities enunciated in Brown. Those rules doomed the governor's counterclaim.

Obviously, the governor is not precluded from defending an action for declaratory judgment brought by citizens and taxpayers. If the operation of any statute is brought into issue by suit against a state officer, that officer may defensively raise the question of the law's constitutionality. Department of Education v. Lewis, 416 So.2d 455 (Fla. 1982); see also City of Pensacola v. King, 47 So.2d 317 (Fla. 1950). In his brief, the governor fails to distinguish a defense from a counterclaim.

A defense is an avoidance of an affirmative claim.

Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.110(c). A counterclaim, however, is a claim for affirmative relief against the plaintiffs. It must stand alone and state a cause of action as though it were an original proceeding. Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.110(b). The governor's

counterclaim is not a defense, it is purportedly an independent action against only the named defendants for an interpretation of a portion of the Florida Statutes.

The governor has no authority to seek such relief. He cannot seek a decliratory judgment regarding either the effect of the intent documencs on his "continuing statutory duties regarding the state budget" or on the validity of his purported vetoes. (Initial brief at 19). Article IV, section 1 of the Florida Constitution sets forth the governor's responsibilities and duties. With regard to the governor's power to initiate or to participate in litigation, he may only:

- (b) . . . [I]nitiate judicial proceedings in the name of the state against any executive or administrative state, county or municipal employee to enforce compliance with any duty or restrain any unauthorized act.
- (c) . . . [R]equest in writing the opinion of the Justices of the [S]upreme [C]ourt after the interpretation of any portion of this constitution upon any question affecting his executive powers and duties.

Like other public officials, the governor may not seek a declaratory judgment relating to his duties unless he "is willing to perform his duties, but is prevented from doing so by others."

See Reid v. Kirk, 257 So.2d 3, 4 (Fla. 1972); Graham v. Swift,

480 So.2d 124 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985).

In <u>Graham</u>, a commissioner of the Florida Administrative Commission was held to lack standing to seek a declaratory

Administrative Code. The commissioner in that case claimed that his decisions would be substantially affected by a code provision and sought a declaratory judgment. The court ruled that the commissioner had no standing, since a public official can only seek a declaratory judgment where that official has been prevented from performing his duties. Id. at 125.

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